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				About the Book

				The Profumo Affair was the political scandal of the twentieth century. The Tory War Minister, John Profumo, had been sleeping with the teenage Christine Keeler, while at the same time she had been sleeping with a Russian spy. The ensuing investigation revealed a secret world where titled men and prostitutes mixed, of orgies and S&M parties. The revelations rocked the British establishment to its core and lead to the resignation of the Prime Minister Harold Macmillan. And seemingly at the centre of it all was one man, Dr Stephen Ward.

				Stephen Ward was many things to many people. He was a successful osteopath to an establishment list of clients. He was a part-time artist who had drawn portaits of members of the Royal Family. To some he was a ‘provider of popsies to rich people’; a man who knews lots of pretty girls of flexible morals. And finally, when the scandal came crashing down on the government, he was a scapegoat, put on trial and, ultimately, hounded to his death.

				The Secret Worlds of Stephen Ward is the definitive investigation into the Profumo scandal and the life and mysterious death of the man at its heart.
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				‘The System’s just a story we tell to the people that aren’t running it, and they’re supposed to just mind their own business and believe it . . .’

				George V. Higgins
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				PROLOGUE

				A Convenient Death

				Midnight on Tuesday, 30 July 1963. A man in a white Jaguar, driving through the streets of central London. Fifty-one-years-old and tired, though younger-looking, lean, his hair slicked back behind his ears. He had recently become world-famous – more correctly infamous – but passed unnoticed that night. At about 1 a.m., he turned into a quiet road in fashionable Chelsea.

				There, in Mallord Street, the man let himself into an unpretentious flat where a friend had given him refuge. There was coffee and a cigarette – he smoked a lot – and it seems he stretched out on the sofa. That is where the friend found him in the morning, his face purple, hardly breathing, deep in a coma from which he would never recover. Beside him, near the coffee cup and the cigarette stub, lay several letters and an empty bottle of Nembutal sleeping pills.

				The man was Dr Stephen Ward. Six months earlier, he had been a man about town, an osteopath by profession who also had a flair for portraiture, virtually unknown to the public. Now he was dying in a firestorm of notoriety. For Ward had become the focus of a crisis that effectively destroyed a British Conservative government and rocked an Establishment already off balance: the sex and espionage scandal remembered as the Profumo Affair.

				To the avid millions it entertained at the time, the Affair came over as a series of titillating sideshows around a seamy centrepiece – but one redolent of something darker. The Secretary of State for War, John Profumo, aged forty-six, had had an affair with a nineteen-year-old named Christine Keeler. The very weekend of their meeting, Keeler had also taken up with thirty-seven-year-old Captain Yevgeny Ivanov, nominally a Soviet assistant naval attaché in London but also an officer in Soviet military intelligence, the GRU.

				It was as a result of her friendship with Stephen Ward that Christine Keeler became acquainted with British Minister Profumo and the Soviet agent. Ward had befriended her when she was just seventeen and working as a showgirl at a London nightclub. It was he who introduced her to Profumo on 8 July 1961, at the country mansion of a wealthy aristocrat, Lord Astor. The couple met at the mansion’s swimming pool, which Ward – who was renting a house on the Astor estate – was allowed to use.

				The alarming fact that Keeler had had simultaneous involvements with the British Minister for War and a Soviet spy remained hidden for two years. It emerged only when she began blabbing about it – to the police, to Members of Parliament, to the press and others. Captain Ivanov left London as soon as she did so – presumably for Moscow.

				Publicly, the scandal began in earnest in March 1963, when Labour Party Member of Parliament George Wigg, a close confidant of Opposition leader Harold Wilson, asked a question in the House of Commons. Next day, following a dawn conference with high-ranking Conservatives, including the Attorney General and the Solicitor General, Profumo claimed in Parliament, flanked by Prime Minister Macmillan and other Cabinet members, that there had been ‘no impropriety’ in his relationship with Christine Keeler.

				Within a week, Wilson – who headed the Labour Party – wrote to the Prime Minister expressing concern about national security. His memorandum, based on information supplied by Dr Ward, supported Profumo’s denial of impropriety while declaring that the Security Service, MI5 – the domestic arm of British intelligence – had been briefed from the start on the fact that Keeler was seeing both Profumo and the Russian. Ward’s own friendship with the Soviet spy, he said, had been ‘used in the interests of the country’.

				The Prime Minister, under pressure, ordered the Lord Chancellor, Britain’s senior judge, Lord Dilhorne, to look into the matter. Then, on 4 June, Profumo admitted that he had lied to Parliament about his relations with Christine Keeler and resigned. He was found guilty of contempt of the House of Commons and removed from his post on the Privy Council.

				The Minister’s personal disgrace aside, the government now took a severe beating in a ‘no-confidence’ debate on national security. The Prime Minister came under pressure to resign – and would do so four months later, though on the grounds of ill health. Lord Denning, who headed the Court of Appeal, was asked to investigate whether the Profumo episode had endangered national security, and to examine the performance of British intelligence. In autumn 1963, following an inquiry held in secret, Denning reported that there had been no security breach and that British intelligence had been competent. So ended a year-long crisis, the most public shaming endured by a British government in the twentieth century.

				Though Stephen Ward had testified to Lord Denning, he did not survive to read the Report, which vilified him in death while being hugely polite to the minister whose sexual folly had triggered the scandal.

				In the spring of the year, as Ward had begun supplying information to the Labour leadership, the police had embarked on an extraordinary probe into his activities. Ostensibly, this was prompted by letters sent to the police, claiming that Dr Ward had been living on the proceeds of prostitution. The letters – said to have been anonymous – have never been produced. It is likely significant that the police pursuit of Ward began within days of a meeting between the Home Secretary, the Commissioner of Police and the head of MI5.

				In the weeks that followed, the police conducted interviews with 140 people, all to look for evidence that one man had acted as a pimp. Then, just as the crisis for the government was becoming more serious, Ward was arrested, charged with living on the immoral earnings of three women, of procuring abortions – abortion was still illegal at that time – and of conspiring to keep a brothel.

				In mid-July 1963, while the Denning inquiry was under way, Ward went on trial at the Old Bailey on the charges of living on immoral earnings. The trial, which held the attention of the world for ten days, was a mockery of justice. Of two prostitutes called to give evidence, one admitted in court that her initial testimony had been false, and a second later said as much to a reporter. Both claimed the police had persuaded them to give false evidence.

				Christine Keeler admitted that she had given money she had received from men to Ward. She said, though, that she gave Ward the cash because she owed him money, and that she usually owed him more than she ever made. Mandy Rice-Davies, an eighteen-year-old who had also been Ward’s protégée, said that she had taken money from a wealthy financier with whom she had sex on several occasions, Dr Emil Savundra – he used to leave cash on the dressing table. Rice-Davies also said that, though she occasionally gave Ward money to pay for food, she – like Keeler – had been getting funds from Ward.

				Ward was indeed perhaps unusually fascinated by sex, did delight in young women, and ingratiated himself socially by introducing them to affluent male friends with similar tastes. It was nonsense, though, to suggest that this well-paid osteopath and artist had lived on prostitution. Nevertheless, following an aggressive lecture from the judge on the precise letter of the law, the Old Bailey jury found Ward guilty on the charges involving Keeler and Rice-Davies.

				Stephen Ward never heard the verdict. By the time it was handed down, he was in hospital on life support, following the barbiturate overdose that was to kill him. A distinguished observer wrote at the time that, ‘There were many people in Britain who, on hearing the news, felt a little ashamed, a little diminished . . .’

				The writer Henry Fairlie defined the British Establishment as ‘A small group of men who use their contacts and influence to put a stop to the things they disapprove of, to promote the reliable, and to preserve the status quo.’ Though it has been described as being time-hallowed, the Establishment had the odour as much of corruption as of sanctity – as it still does all these years later. It provided the principal villains in the Profumo Affair.

				Talking with a friend in his last conscious hours, Ward had said, ‘Someone had to be sacrificed, and it was me. One or two people can still vindicate me, but when the Establishment want blood, they get it.’

				In the summer of 1963, there was a growing threat that more top names would be tarnished. Allegations considered in these pages suggest that a Cabinet minister offered to resign at the height of the affair, out of concern that the investigation would reveal his relationship with the Duchess of Argyll, the subject of a recent sensational divorce. And then there was the Royal Family.

				Ward, as a fine artist, had sketched no fewer than eight members of the Royal Family in 1961. Prince Philip he knew already – they had been acquainted since the late 1940s – and Philip had attended a party given by Ward. Philip’s cousin and close friend, David, Marquess of Milford Haven, had cause for fear. Information to be examined in this book indicates that Ward provided women for sex parties given by the Marquess.

				During Ward’s trial, a London art gallery held an exhibition of his sketches, including those of several members of the Royal Family. No sooner had the exhibition opened than a mysterious emissary arrived and bought up all the royal portraits.

				A feature of the Profumo furore, meanwhile, was a story about an orgiastic dinner at which one male guest waited on the others dressed only in a waitress’ apron and a black mask. There followed years of speculation as to his identity. The authors report who he was to a virtual certainty – a member, now dead, of a famous aristocratic and political family.

				In 1963, then, there was a cause for panic in the ranks of the Establishment. That, though, hardly explains the decision to try Ward on trumped-up charges. There was, after all, a real risk that prosecuting Ward would goad him into exposing those he had imagined to be his friends. Why did those who made the decision take that risk?

				Putting the osteopath on trial had the effect of making many matters sub judice, strictly limiting how the scandal could be discussed in the press and even in Parliament. As significantly, publicity about Ward’s sexual peccadilloes – dressed up as crimes – created a diversion. Lurid headlines and bedroom revelations titillated as many people as they outraged. It made Ward and his girls, and the sexual capers, rather than John Profumo and the government, the focus of public attention. That was a diversion from the far more important issue – national security.

				Harold Wilson was right when he told Parliament, just before Ward’s trial: ‘What concerns us . . . is whether a man of high trust, privy to the most secret information available to a Government . . . imperilled our national security or created conditions in which a continued risk to our security was allowed to remain . . .’ Wilson understood something the authorities preferred the public not to think about – that Minister for War Profumo had laid himself open to blackmail.

				It mattered not that he had supposedly terminated his affair with Christine Keeler well before the scandal became public. The very fact of the affair left him vulnerable. Some tried to calm such fears by suggesting that Profumo did not, in any case, have access to much really sensitive material. As we shall show, he did.

				Lord Denning’s report made light of one specific allegation: that Ward, prompted by Ivanov, had asked Christine Keeler to get information from Profumo on ‘when the Americans were going to supply the atomic bomb to Germany’. Put like that, it was a nonsense. There never was any question of giving West Germany ‘the bomb’. In 1961, though, there was real Soviet concern as to whether American Sergeant and Crockett weapons systems in West Germany were to be armed with nuclear warheads and, if so, when.

				Nevertheless, the possibility of espionage in the Profumo case was not considered in any depth in the Denning Report. Nor were a string of questions concerning the role of British intelligence. According to the Denning Report, MI5 did not learn until early 1963 that Profumo and Keeler had been lovers. In fact, as we shall show, MI5 officers learned of the affair much earlier. What were the security services up to? The answer lies in the title of the first, 1987, edition of this book – Honeytrap.

				A ‘honeytrap’, in intelligence parlance, refers to the entrapment of an espionage target through sexual compromise. If there was a honeytrap involved in the Profumo episode, who was hunting whom? The Denning Report considered whether the Soviets had lured the Minister for War into his folly as part of a Soviet plan to sow disunity between Britain and the United States. The British would appear to be unreliable at a very senior level and trust between Washington and London would be eroded. If that was the plan, it succeeded to some extent.

				What, though, was Ward’s true role? He spent a good deal of time with the Soviet attaché and sometimes aired sympathy for the Soviet Union. During the crisis following the erection of the Berlin Wall, and later during the Cuban Missile Crisis, he acted as an intermediary for Soviet diplomatic initiatives. Was he simply a naïve dupe, the Soviets’ messenger boy? Was he a witting traitor? Or did he act on behalf of British intelligence?

				The Denning Report did not pursue this last possibility, that this was a British game, and Soviet attaché Ivanov the eventual target. We piece together the way Ward was effectively recruited by MI5, two years before the Profumo scandal, in hopes of softening up Ivanov as a potential defector. For MI5, Profumo’s affair with Keeler may have been only an unforeseen hitch in an operation that continued after the affair was over. If so, and not least once the scandal broke, that would have been something British intelligence would have been determined to keep secret. There is also evidence on Ward’s Soviet connection that did not surface at the time. We discovered that a second Soviet, a diplomat, was in touch with Ward. His calling card was found in Ward’s pocket after his death.

				Our research, moreover, located another prostitute, not identified in 1963, who admitted that Ward sent her British Members of Parliament – and Americans – as clients. This all raised new questions about Ward’s true allegiance, and led us into an area that escaped notice in 1963: the American connection.

				What was known at the time was that three American airmen based at the US Third Air Force headquarters in Britain were found to have associated with Christine Keeler. They were flown back to the United States, questioned, then returned to duty in England when it was decided there had been no security leak. Much later, with access to US Air Force and FBI files – the Bureau’s dossier was code-named ‘Bowtie’ – it emerged that a fourth airman had had sex with another prostitute Ward knew, at his flat. At Ward’s trial, the prostitute first gave false evidence, then admitted she had done so following police pressure, and subsequently fled to the United States.

				Another, perhaps the most extraordinary, piece of the puzzle lifts the story into the stratosphere of scandal. According to a combination of official documents and human sources, the Profumo Affair touched the President of the United States, John F. Kennedy.

				At least one woman linked to Ward may have met and had sex with Kennedy during the transition between his election in 1960 and inauguration in early 1961. So alleged Mariella Novotny, who, though only eighteen at the time, had travelled to New York to work as a prostitute. We established that she spoke at the time of having dallied with the President-elect – as distinct from merely cooking up a juicy story long afterwards – and we obtained an unpublished memoir in which she described the experience in detail.

				We also obtained a mass of US official documents on a young actress called Suzy Chang who attracted intense federal interest at the time of the Profumo scandal. A major American newspaper linked her with ‘one of the biggest names in American politics’ – on the day in 1963 that the President was in England visiting Prime Minister Macmillan. Kennedy promptly assigned his brother, Attorney General Robert Kennedy, to mount a ruthless damage-control operation.

				As for Mariella Novotny, she had met with Stephen Ward the day before she began the trip to the United States during which she allegedly had sex with John F. Kennedy. Later, she would say that she believed she had been a pawn in a plot designed to compromise him. Her alleged encounter with Kennedy took place – as did all the central events in the Profumo case – at the very height of the Cold War. Just as the British Minister of War was compromised by his mistress’ link to a Soviet spy, so too were there efforts to link Novotny, the daughter of a Czech father, with the communist bloc.

				At the height of the Profumo furore, Labour Party leader Harold Wilson referred darkly to ‘evidence of a sordid underworld network, the extent of which cannot yet be measured’. His chief adviser on the Affair, George Wigg, claimed flatly in Parliament: ‘There are three gentlemen actively connected with blackmail on an international scale who got out of London as quickly as they could when they knew that Dr Ward had been arrested.’

				Were there really such ‘blackmailers’? What really triggered the Profumo scandal? We shall analyse the strange circumstances in which the story broke surface, and the odd way Profumo’s lover, Christine Keeler, suddenly began pouring out her tale to anyone who would listen. She did so partly because of one man’s personal vendetta against Dr Ward. But was there in 1963 a plot within a plot, one that could have had the effect of harming even the President of the United States?

				What is not in doubt is that this was a graver international drama than was understood publicly at the time. A former Deputy Director of the FBI told us: ‘This was a time when there was a feeling that we had been deceiving ourselves, that we had felt more secure than we should have done, not least because we depended a great deal on the security capability of the British. And then to find that the President was perhaps involved with somebody involved in the British security scandal. Nobody was grinning . . .’

				The involvement of President Kennedy aside, some accounts have claimed the extent of the American ramifications of the scandal was largely inflated by the press, that no national security issues were involved. Documents released to the authors, however, show that the scandal led to a crisis in the security relationship between the United States and Britain. American fears that secret information was making its way to Moscow led to a suspension of cooperation with MI5.

				The truth behind the Profumo Affair was very obviously obscured at the time – and has remained so to this day. The authorities deliberately misled the public in many ways. In spite of the passage of time, it is certain that some British intelligence documentation remains closed, or was long ago destroyed. In the United States, the Freedom of Information Act is a fine-sounding law that has been thwarted by obfuscation, censorship and – again – destruction of records.

				A measure of the resistance to full disclosure was a 1987 attack on the BBC – made by a group of peers in the House of Lords – for plans it had made, then dropped, to produce a documentary about Stephen Ward. Lord Grimond, former leader of the Liberal Party, said it had been ‘extremely irresponsible’ for the BBC even to have considered making such a programme. Lord Denning, for his part, deplored the way the BBC had been re-examining past court cases. ‘Does not this conduct,’ he asked, ‘tend to shake people’s confidence in the courts and in the police, and is it not therefore to be condemned?’

				We live in a time when probing journalism is discouraged in many ways and for multiple reasons, when newspapers and broadcasters are intimidated as never before. Curbing irresponsible reporting and abuse of press freedoms cannot justify Orwellian strictures. The best reporting, non-fiction books and broadcast programmes have exposed serious government misdemeanours, professional malpractice and miscarriages of justice. Long after all other appeals have been exhausted, living men have walked free and dead men have received posthumous pardons. False history has been corrected. Sometimes, journalism and literature can be the court of last appeal.

				Lord Denning declared of the Profumo Affair that he had heard all the evidence and ‘was quite satisfied that there was no miscarriage of justice at all’. Yet, in a report of more than a hundred pages, Denning devoted only two paragraphs to the Ward trial. Our investigation suggests that the public never learned the true facts about the Profumo case, and remained woefully uninformed about the role of the British security and intelligence services.

				We reached these conclusions by compiling our own dossier, based on many dozens of fresh interviews. Apart from the new American documents, we were permitted – for the first time – to see official transcripts of the Ward trial, a record that had always been denied to researchers. Finally, we obtained a typewritten outline for a memoir Ward himself assembled shortly before he died. Part of it was written by hand in Brixton Prison and taken out in sections by a visiting friend, part was apparently dictated into a tape recorder.

				Some of what he claimed may have been self-serving, less than the truth, but it is evident that he was used, then made a scapegoat – while sordid truths about the ‘great and the good’ were covered up in both Britain and the United States. This book is an effort to open a window on an episode the Establishment preferred kept tightly shut.

			

		

	
		
			
				

				CHAPTER I

				Learning the Game

				‘The story must start with Stephen Ward,’ Lord Denning was to write at the beginning of his report on the Profumo Affair. There was no reason why his report should start thus. The focus should have been on Minister for War John Profumo. Nevertheless, like Denning, we open our story with Dr Ward.

				He was born Stephen Thomas Ward on 19 October 1912, the year the Titanic went down. One of those who perished in the shipwreck was millionaire Jacob Astor. His relative, young Bill Astor, one day to become Lord Astor and Ward’s patron, was about to start school. John Profumo, the son of a line of Italian aristocrats, would be born three years later. Harold Macmillan, future prime minister, was about to go to Eton, the launch pad for political stardom and marriage to the daughter of a duke. Beside these lucky inheritors of privilege, Stephen Ward’s silver spoon seemed somewhat dull.

				Stephen was born to Arthur, a Hertfordshire vicar, and his wife Eileen. Reverend Ward, described by his bishop as ‘a forthright preacher of fiery sermons and modern ideas’, was scholarly and somewhat austere. Eileen Ward enhanced the social clout of the family. She came from the Vigors family of County Carlow in Ireland, landed gentry who had produced a steady stream of clerics, magistrates, High Sheriffs and officers for the British Army.

				Later, Stephen Ward would make a point of telling people he was from a ‘good’ family. He had social aspirations, and his mother supplied excellent credentials. She doted on her boy and thought he was ‘brilliant’. There were prayers at Stephen’s christening for ‘a happy and holy life’, and Eileen told a close friend: ‘One day my boy will be famous.’

				As vicars must, Ward’s father moved his family from parish to parish, eventually settling amidst the genteel seaside folk of Torquay. The Reverend Ward’s church was St Matthias, still flourishing today. Young Ward had two brothers and twin sisters. He was educated first by a private tutor, then at a private ‘prep’ school, and finally sent to the empire-building academy of the old British class system, a public school.

				Just as Ward was born into a middling-upper-class drawer rather than the one reserved for the crème de la crème, so his public school was – as a luckier acquaintance later sniffed – ‘second-rate’. Canford, in Dorset, was for those whose parents wanted their sons in a privileged school, but had to settle for less than the best. Stephen wanted to impress his father. ‘I wanted to be good at everything,’ he was one day to tell his close friend the journalist Warwick Charlton, ‘I wanted to pass exams brilliantly, to be noticed for my fine mind. I also wanted to be good at games.’

				It did not happen. In a world of achievers, Ward was not especially good at anything. He was lazy, a bit of a dreamer, but he could not dream his way out of what public-school enthusiasts like to call their ‘code’. Forty years later, at the height of the Profumo Affair, Ward told Charlton about an incident in the dormitory at Canford. Someone, not Ward, had hit a boy who was snoring during the night. In the morning, the boy was found unconscious with a fractured skull.

				‘Someone,’ Ward said, ‘had to be punished. If no one confessed, then the entire dormitory had to be punished. I knew who it was, but one was not supposed to tell. There would have been great fury if I’d said anything and in any case I was completely indoctrinated. I had a horror of being a sneak. The upshot was I was taken away and thrashed in front of the whole school and I jolly well nearly got the sack, too. Of course, all the other boys thought I was a famous fellow. I’d done the right thing. I hadn’t split . . .’

				Long afterwards, Ward asked one of his former masters whether he and his colleagues had really believed he was the culprit. ‘No,’ came the reply, ‘but someone had to be whacked. It just happened to be you.’ During the Profumo Affair that ancient episode evidently still rankled. ‘I suppose they expect me to go along with this stupid public-school convention that good chaps don’t tell. Well, I didn’t tell once. But not this time. If I’m going down then they’re going with me. I promise you that.’

				When it came to it, Ward died without splitting on his friends. At one stage he even lied in public to protect John Profumo. Like so many of its victims, he was bound to the public-school code to the end. Good chaps don’t tell.

				At the age of seventeen, after the dormitory incident, Stephen Ward told his father he wanted to leave school and get a job. ‘He was puzzled,’ Ward recalled. ‘In my father’s world young boys simply did not chuck up their schooling and get jobs for which they had no apparent training. Gentlemen’s sons didn’t behave like that.’ In the twenties, gentlemen’s sons certainly did not take jobs at the Houndsditch Carpet Warehouse. That is where Ward first worked, and it is here that he takes up his own story – in the memoir he drafted before he died.

				‘I was paid twenty-seven shillings a week and no overtime,’ Ward said of the spell at the warehouse. ‘It was rather amusing . . . I spent the day turning over carpets and taking wholesale buyers to various departments. I wasn’t there very long, I think the Christmas rush finished me.’ Within months, he was off to Germany and a return to something a little closer to a gentleman’s existence. Though his German was poor, an uncle found Ward a job as a translator for Shell Oil. He played football for a Hamburg team, joined the local British tennis club, took long weekend trips on the river – and went out with Lieselotte Peters, the Swedish consul’s daughter.

				Ward’s sex life began in Hamburg. He recorded, without elaboration, how he ‘explored the extensive night life of the famous Reeperbahn’. The Reeperbahn was then as now Hamburg’s brothel district. The job in Germany, he wrote, ended the day ‘I imprisoned my very fat boss behind a door and made him yell for mercy. Paris was next on the list.’ Ward joined a young friend, Paul Boggis-Rolfe, who was studying in France. Boggis-Rolfe remembered Ward as ‘a delightful person, awfully nice’, and let him use a bed in his room at a Left Bank pension.

				Ward registered for a course on ‘Civilisation’ at the Sorbonne, but did little studying. He supplemented his allowance by giving English lessons, guiding tourists and working in a nightclub called Chez Florence. The writer John Doxat, ‘Britain’s foremost thinking drinker’, who met Ward in Paris, remembered him as ‘an ebullient character, a bit of a laugh. He was doing a stupendous amount of drinking. I was just beginning, he was a past master.’

				In later years, Ward drank only moderately. Living in the Latin Quarter, though, he formed some traits that would last. There, he cultivated the easy charm that would later make him popular in London. Ward perfected the insouciant pose, the white shirt, sleeves rolled up to the elbow, the Gauloise cigarette at the lip, the black coffee in hand. He had a gift for portraiture, especially in chalks, and practised a lot in Paris – drawing girls.

				Ward took parties of tourists to Le Sphinx, a famous brothel where ‘the girls were all naked and danced with the customers’. As he put it later, ‘It didn’t take me long to find out that people were more interested in real live girls than in the Mona Lisa.’ As Boggis-Rolfe remembers it, Ward himself showed little interest in actual sex with girls. That was how it would be in the 1950s and early 1960s. He would gather girls around him, draw them, and introduce them to wealthy friends. Many noticed, though, that he had little sexual appetite for them himself.

				His friend Boggis-Rolfe would go on to become a soldier, then a member of MI6 during World War II. Ward returned to England in 1932, aged twenty, and breezed into county society and a whirl of hunt balls and parties. His mother at first proved generous with funds, and Ward acquired a red two-seater MG sports car. Then, when he had an affair with a married actress, a former Ziegfeld Follies girl, Ward’s mother cut off his allowance. He left home for a while and, for the first and perhaps the only time, fell in love.

				The girl was Mary Glover, the beauteous daughter of a local insurance man. She would recall: ‘At first I thought Stephen rather arrogant, vain and snobbish, but as time went on I found myself in love with him.’ Ward said, ‘Mary gave me the confidence that I could accomplish anything I set my heart on.’ There was talk of marriage, but Ward had no job and no money. In London, his uncle Edward Vigors, an Examiner of Standing Orders to 
both Houses of Parliament, decided to intervene. He introduced Ward to Jocelyn Proby, an aristocratic friend then playing a leading role in introducing the British to osteopathy. Proby, who had returned from the United States, where osteopathy originated, suggested Ward go to America to learn the profession. Ward saw that he had to ‘make good’ for Mary Glover, and agreed.

				In the autumn of 1934, Ward found himself aboard the SS Mauretania, in third class, watching the towers of Manhattan appear on the horizon. By Greyhound bus, he travelled on to Kirksville College in Missouri, the home of osteopathy, and began medical studies that were to last four years.

				Far in the future, during the Profumo Affair, the press would suggest that Ward was a quack doctor who had performed poorly at college. In fact, Ward worked hard and passed his examinations with credits. In the United States, an osteopath had to qualify fully in conventional medicine, and Ward devoured pathology, gynaecology and surgery. Jocelyn Proby said Ward ‘could memorise whole paragraphs of Gray’s Anatomy at one sitting’. In America, the young doctor discovered, there was an ample supply of bodies available for dissection – the corpses of poor black people, purchased from bereaved families for fifty dollars apiece. ‘When we did obstetrics,’ he recalled, ‘we were often taken to remote farms, sometimes in winter over deep snow and on snowshoes. We did surgery on kitchen tables, and deliveries of the most abstruse type, without help.’

				Soon came a blow, a letter from home telling Ward that his sweetheart Mary Glover had decided to marry someone else. Ward hurried home to try to stop the marriage, but failed. ‘This was my first brush with pain,’ he wrote, ‘I wondered how anyone could possibly reject me like that . . . I decided that I would never again become so seriously involved with anyone.’ He never did have a stable, long-term affair with a woman.

				Back in America, Ward threw himself into his studies – and into exploring the continent. He travelled to every state in the Union and to Mexico. He hitchhiked to Florida and survived a bear attack in Wyoming. He went to Hollywood to meet the film star Madeleine Carroll, who was a relative by marriage – the beginning of his fascination with show business. In Chicago, he met the gangster Ralph Capone, Al’s brother, and – following a pattern he would keep to in every great city – he made for the red-light district.

				Ward like sexual game-playing. He told his friend Warwick Charlton that he had vastly enjoyed the ‘petting’ ritual then much practised in America: ‘You touch the girl’s hand. She must make a sign of withdrawal. Never take this seriously. From the hand you move to the lips. You kiss. The lips, of course, are closed. Once you have kissed, then you caress. More expertly, more lingeringly. You may touch the body. But petting must be staggered over a period. There’s an art in this sort of stimulation. I found it an exciting emotional experience.’

				‘Stephen,’ Charlton thought, ‘refined the art of petting until it became almost a perversion. Consummation was never supremely important to him. A sort of body closeness, a hint of dangerous pleasures to come, a smoothly placed hand, a dextrous slip of silk against skin. These were the delights of Stephen Ward. Pleasure was always to be round the corner. Never to be taken now.’

				In 1938, still only twenty-six, Ward brought his medical experience home to England. Dr Stephen Ward, the gifted osteopath, set up a practice in Torquay, close to the clock tower on the Strand. He became sought after for his medical skill, and his social charm soon made him a favourite in the county set. In January 1940, the South Devon Debating Society’s records show, he spoke at a debate on ‘Modern Sex Problems’. A female acquaintance remembered first hearing about him because ‘he had young girls staying in his tent’ during a Dartmoor camping holiday. Ward might have remained obscure enough, in the West Country, had World War II not intervened.

				As soon as war broke out, Ward volunteered for the Royal Army Medical Corps. He was rejected, for the army did not recognise osteopathy. Conscripted instead into the Armoured Corps, Ward was sent for training at Bovington Camp. Once installed, he got his own way in any case. The colonel in charge of the regiment discovered his talents, and Ward was soon running an unofficial clinic from his very own Nissen hut. This lasted only until the medical officer – whose name was also Ward – objected. Ward was commissioned and transferred to the Medical Corps. He was banned from practising medicine, however, because he had obtained his qualifications abroad. Ward began a campaign to get the Army to recognise osteopathy.

				However naïvely, he believed that an individual could beat the system, that justice would be obtained if he took his case to the very top. It was a notion that would remain with him until scandal burst around him in 1963, when he fired off letters to the Home Secretary and other public figures. As it would fail Ward then, it failed him during the war.

				In March 1945, Ward was aboard ship beginning a posting to India. There were compensations – 3,000 young women on a vessel carrying only 300 men. ‘The longer it took,’ said Ward, ‘the happier we were.’ In India, and with the war winding down, Ward was in his element. His osteopathic prowess won him friends from exclusive clubs to maharajahs’ palaces. When Ward treated Gandhi for a stiff neck, the Indian leader greeted him with: ‘It is strange to have a visit from a British officer who has not come to arrest me.’ Years later, when Winston Churchill in turn became 
a patient and was regaled with the Gandhi story, he grunted: ‘Pity you didn’t twist it [the neck] right off.’

				Meanwhile, Ward’s tussle with the military bureaucracy had not ceased. With the Army continuing to ignore his qualifications, using him merely to draw anatomical specimens for other medics, he fought to have osteopathy recognised. By the time his military service ended, he had appealed in vain to Churchill, even to the King. Eventually Ward suffered some sort of nervous collapse. According to Dr Ellis Stungo, a psychiatrist who knew him in India and later became a friend in London, he was shipped home in ‘an anxiety state’. He returned to England aboard a hospital ship in October 1945. Once home, he recalled, he was permitted off base to go to art classes in Oxford – accompanied by a military policeman. Ward was discharged soon after, the record shows, ‘on account of disability’.

				Dr Jocelyn Proby, the osteopath who had first encouraged Ward to become a doctor, thought his protégé became seriously disturbed during this period and ‘may have attempted suicide’. Psychiatrist Stungo knew of no suicide attempt at that time, but knew from first-hand experience of one a few years later. Ward’s was a fragile ego, and his reaction to rejection was always extreme. Dr Proby, who liked Ward and continued to help him, was one of the first to understand the instability behind the smiling charmer that was Ward’s front to the world. He remained, he thought, ‘utterly irresponsible and emotionally immature, someone who could not settle down and was largely ruled by the impulse of the perverse.’

				In 1946, with Proby’s help, Ward began to practise as an osteopath in London. He was employed, at first, to practise at the Osteopathic Association’s clinic in Dorset Square, tending to clients not wealthy enough to go to a private consultant. The starting salary was ten pounds a week.

				Not just because of the humble salary, Ward was not satisfied with his post for long. ‘I believe that in medicine, as in all things,’ he was to say, ‘you finish up as you start. If you want to finish up at the top, you’ve got to start at the top. Get one or two good patients and, if you’re any good, you’ll soon be treating nobody but top people.’

				The man with the impulse of the perverse was on his way.

			

		

	
		
			
				

				CHAPTER 2

				The Doctor Goes to Town

				One morning in 1946, a few months after Ward began working in London, the telephone rang at the Dorset Square clinic. Ward, who happened to take the call, found himself talking with an official at the US embassy who was in search of an American-trained osteopath, ‘the best in town,’ to treat an eminent dignitary.

				Ward grabbed the opportunity. ‘Our best man is Dr Stephen Ward,’ he told the caller. ‘I’ll get him to phone back.’ Soon afterwards, after a pause during which he arranged to borrow a consulting room at a smart Park Lane address, he rang back to fix an appointment. The important patient turned out to be none other than the ambassador himself, Averell Harriman. ‘He told me he always visited an osteopath every week,’ Ward was to recall. ‘It was the only thing that kept him going . . . I decided to let him in on my prank. He thought it was a terrific joke.’

				Years later, at the height of the Profumo Affair, Harriman would say he could ‘not recall’ having been treated by Ward. That, though, was at a time when all Ward’s famous acquaintances were running for cover. The man who was serving as ambassador in 1963, David Bruce, accepted – as one of his diary entries shows – that Ward had indeed treated Harriman. Ward always spoke of Harriman with gratitude. He ‘dropped my name in high places,’ 
he said, ‘and soon I began to get private patients.’

				‘He was very clever, very knowledgeable, and he was considered a good and talented osteopath, rightly much sought after,’ fellow osteopath William McClurg told the authors – and several other medical colleagues concurred. Soon after treating the ambassador, Ward took over a practice just around the corner from Harley Street, in Cavendish Square. ‘Pretty soon,’ he later said proudly, ‘my patients included King Peter of Yugoslavia, several maharajahs, six members of the Churchill family, Elizabeth Taylor, Ava Gardner, Danny Kaye, Frank Sinatra, Mary Martin, Mel Ferrer and dozens more. My appointment books read like the invitation lists to film premieres.’

				Ward treated Winston Churchill – at home – a dozen times. ‘He hopped out of bed to get on to my portable treatment table,’ he remembered, ‘forgetting that he was wearing only the top half of his pyjamas.’ Ward and the former prime minister seem to have got on well: they discussed their mutual interest in painting, and Churchill showed Ward some of his canvases. Ward had been recommended, he said, by his daughter Diana.

				Ward lived in a large first-floor flat above his consulting rooms. It became open house for his friends, who included a bevy of young women. One was Eunice Bailey, a redhead from Bexleyheath who became Ward’s second real love. She broke it off, though, and went on to marry the son of Sir Harry Oakes, the millionaire victim in a famous Caribbean murder case. The rejection was a shattering blow and, probably for the second time, he attempted suicide.

				Ward took a barbiturate overdose, to be rescued by the psychiatrist Dr Ellis Stungo, the friend he by now called ‘Pops’. Stungo administered a lifesaving injection, and Ward woke up in the Middlesex Hospital. The psychiatrist thought the overdose had been more a cry for help than a serious attempt to kill himself.

				In the summer of 1949, when he was thirty-six, Ward did get married – to a twenty-one-year-old model and former beauty queen named Patricia Baines. This was a calculated decision. ‘I decided at the very first meeting that I wanted her,’ Ward later reminisced. ‘I worked it out quite calmly. She would grace the practice. She would be useful. She was also desirable.’ The new wife, according to a friend, bore an astonishing physical resemblance to Ward himself.

				There were rows even on the honeymoon in Paris, and it was an unhappy couple who headed back for England on the boat train. The marriage was over, bar the legalities, within six weeks. ‘I was desperately unhappy with him,’ the former Mrs Ward recalled years later. ‘He was virtually a stranger to me, and he was a very unhappy man. But he did have a lot of charm. I think basically he was in conflict with himself most of the time . . . I was left at home while Stephen was out socialising.’ Ward, for his part, maintained that, ‘She was always wanting things, and pretty soon I couldn’t stand the sight of her. Soon she had divorced me on the grounds of adultery, which wasn’t difficult.’

				Michael Eddowes, a wealthy former solicitor who met Ward at this time and will later play a role in this story, offered a hilarious and revealing anecdote on the marriage episode. ‘Ward,’ said Eddowes, ‘always had a penchant for streetwalkers. He was always disappearing from the flat where they lived, for a couple of hours at a time, and Pat didn’t know what he was up to. One evening she decided to find out and hid in the back of the car – the boot opened into a sort of jump seat. When the car stopped she jumped out, to find Ward chatting up a prostitute!’

				The sad end of the tale came from the actor Jon Pertwee, who later starred as Dr Who in the famous television series, and was a loyal friend from the 1940s until Ward’s death in 1963. Ward’s enraged wife, he related, ‘came out over the back of the car like an avenging angel, and practically gave Stephen a heart attack. The poor prostitute fled in a state of terror, and fire and brimstone was poured on his head.’

				Ward had always patronised prostitutes. Now, in London, whores served as a regular diversion. Michael Eddowes recalled visiting Ward at his flat one evening when several men were drinking there. ‘Ward disappeared out,’ he said, ‘and returned thirty minutes later with a couple of real tarts. He put one in the consulting room and one in the bedroom, then disappeared into the consulting room and came out a few minutes later, laughing and doing up his flies. He then went into the bedroom and, presumably, had the other one too.’

				The prosecuting counsel at Ward’s trial in 1963 was to call him ‘a thoroughly immoral man’. Tens of thousands of men, then as now, in fact regularly seek sex for hire. Prominent amongst them, not least because they could afford it, were the well-heeled upper-class customers seen ducking out of red-lit doorways from Mayfair to Soho every day. It was the exposure of the carnal antics of some of those customers that would lead to Ward’s eventual ruin. What set him apart from the rest was his dedication to the sport of sex, his resourcefulness in always having a girl on hand – whether pretty protégée or professional whore. It was a facility that made him the toast of hundreds of well-placed London males.

				‘I suppose I have been one of the most successful men in London with girls since the war,’ Ward wrote with relish in his draft memoir. ‘I am the proof that you don’t have to be handsome or rich to get the best girls. My technique has been never to force them. Just be gentle, interested, and they come . . .’ That was his boast, but – friends noticed increasingly, especially after his second rejection in love – actual intercourse was not a priority. ‘I don’t think he was interested in sex per se,’ said Jon Pertwee. ‘He was fascinated by women, fascinated by sex, but not particularly by the act. One of his girlfriends complained rather bitterly that he treated her like a piece of wood . . .’

				From now on, though he shared affection with some women, most became commodities. Many were prostitutes, or close to it. ‘He was what we call passively aggressive,’ said Dr Stungo, ‘like a spoilt child who gets his way, in Ward’s case thanks to his charm . . . without regard to convention, propriety or suitability.’ Dr Stungo, who was well versed on the sex habits of the famous – one of his patients was Errol Flynn, another Judy Garland – thought Ward something of a voyeur, a penchant he did not try to hide. He had a fixation, especially, about legs, loved to have a girl pose in underwear, stockings and suspenders, and high-heeled shoes – showing them off.

				Ward, himself a keen photographer, accumulated a large collection of photographs, some just ‘girlie’ pictures, some blatantly pornographic. While the pornographic ones generally showed straightforward intercourse, Stungo remembered a set of pictures depicting a girl grinding a stiletto-shod heel into a young man’s penis. Those pictures excited Ward. Another friend, antiques dealer Hod Dibben, recalled that – at parties – Ward ‘liked to have a high-heeled shoe tied around his nose’. The psychiatrists’ interpretation is that an individual evincing such behaviour gradually becomes more attached to the idea of sex – as expressed in the pictures – than to the reality of his or her partner. The longer Ward indulged, the less he was interested in real live women, the more intense his liking for the bizarre.

				The easiest way to satisfy such a need is by using prostitutes, which is not to say that Ward treated them badly. He enjoyed the company of whores and befriended many. Should he see a loitering street prostitute being hustled by the police, Stungo recalled, he would rush up with an ‘I’m sorry I’m late, dear’ to get the woman out of trouble. He became, too, something of a connoisseur. ‘Stephen had a fascination for prostitutes,’ said Pertwee. ‘He used to pick them up and talk to them. He used to drive around the park in his car, pick up a girl and sit her in his car, smoke a cigarette and talk to her . . . find out why she did it and all that sort of thing. He was fascinated by the subject.’

				Warwick Charlton, a journalist and former army major who served under General Montgomery and Lord Mountbatten – and much later authored an insightful book on the Profumo Affair – was a major source for this book. His role was probably especially significant because – as these pages will reveal – he probably worked with MI6. Ward trusted Charlton as a friend, and shared intimate thoughts with him about sex.

				The osteopath, who dabbled in psychiatry himself, said he respected prostitutes who provided top service. ‘They knew, more than any psychologist, what was needed by certain types of men,’ he told Charlton. ‘These girls accepted sex as sex. To them it was a job. Whippings, beatings, the lot – what did it matter to them? I really believe they felt they were performing just as good and necessary a service as a doctor. Perhaps, indeed, they were.’

				The Cavendish Square apartment, with its spacious old-world rooms, became the venue for much partying, often impromptu. The osteopath Jocelyn Proby was one night woken at 3 a.m. by Ward erupting into the flat with a bevy of girls from the Windmill Theatre – in those days still the nude revue that boasted ‘We Never Closed’, or, as the wits had it, ‘We Never Clothed’.

				Though Ward’s income was now far better, he was usually broke. Guests at his parties brought their own bottles. He – who never used hard liquor – supplied the glasses and perhaps tonic for the gin. Dr Stungo remembered the moment the bill came one night when he and Ward were dining at the RAC Club with two female companions – Joan Collins, future star of the soap opera Dynasty, and her sister Jackie, later to become a best-selling author of sexually charged novels. Stungo had to pay, as Ward had left his wallet at home.

				Dr Stungo hastened to say that Ward was not a sponger – just not well off enough to ‘stand his whack’ in the wealthy milieu he cultivated. A journalist friend, Frederic Mullally, put it down to the young osteopath’s ‘heavy overheads, and a chronic reluctance to have the thrill of the chase constrained by excessive hours working over obese matrons’ vertebrae’. For all his tailored suits and fast cars, Ward quickly became known as one of the tightest men in town.

				‘Ward’s objective was esteem,’ said Stungo. ‘He wanted to impress his acquaintances and be accepted in society.’ Thanks to the combination of osteopathic and artistic skills, Ward soon had both distinguished and raffish friends. One of the latter was the portrait artist Vasco Lazzolo, who had met Ward at the end of the war in Oxford, when Lazzolo was attending the Slade School of Art. ‘Latin’ Lazzolo became a society artist, following years spent working as a commercial artist in Soho, when one of his mistresses married into the aristocracy. He shared many of Ward’s characteristics – not least the predilection for young women and prostitutes, and for the world of show business.

				Ward was often called to the Hippodrome Theatre, off Leicester Square, to look after the dancers’ pulled muscles. Michael Bentine of The Goon Show fame, who had heard of Ward’s reputation as ‘the best physio in town’ and met him at the Hippodrome, remembered him as ‘a very handsome man, with his black hair combed back very tightly, and smelling eternally of aftershave. He was a charming person, a very good conversationalist and witty.’

				Lazzolo aside, Ward’s two other closest friends were top-flight portrait photographers. There was Anthony Beauchamp (born Entwhistle), who married Sir Winston Churchill’s actress daughter Sarah. ‘Like me,’ Ward said of him, ‘he knew no barriers of class in his relationships with men and women. He took his friends from all walks of life.’ Beauchamp’s wife Sarah remembered, rather, his ‘wild, insubstantial infidelities’.

				The other photographer in Ward’s life, the one with by far the greatest influence, was Sterling Henry Nahum, born in England into an Italian-Jewish family, and known to all by his professional name, ‘Baron’. After the war, Baron, who used a studio above Lazzolo’s in Belgravia and concentrated on photographing ‘society’, rose, with the support of Lord Louis Mountbatten, to become photographer to the Royal Family. For a photographer, there was nowhere higher to fly in the social galaxy.

				Stephen Ward went out of his way to cultivate Baron and became a regular visitor to his unpretentious flat in Brick Street, off Piccadilly. ‘I knew he was on the way up,’ Ward would recall. ‘Everyone seemed to know him, and I felt I had a certain rapport with him.’ One reason Ward knew Baron was on the way up was the identity of two of the photographer’s close friends – Battenberg cousins David, Marquess of Milford Haven, and Prince Philip of Greece, as of 1947 Duke of Edinburgh and husband to the future Queen Elizabeth.

				Twenty-five-year-old Prince Philip, in London after the war and staying at the Belgravia home of his uncle and mentor Louis Mountbatten, had renewed a childhood friendship with the Marquess of Milford Haven. Cruising around town in Philip’s red MG sports car, the two young men were sowing their wild oats. It was while they were doing so, in 1946, that Baron and Tatler editor Sean Fielding dreamed up the Thursday Club, named for the day of the week on which – for years afterwards – select members would convene for lunch in a private upstairs room at Wheeler’s Oyster Bar in Soho’s Old Compton Street.

				The idea was ‘to lighten the gloom that surrounded us all’, an aspiration expressed by the weekly treat the men gave themselves. Their weekly meal usually featured oysters and lobster claws washed down with copious quantities of champagne and Guinness. The membership reportedly included Prince Philip, the Marquess of Milford Haven, and Iain Macleod, a future Conservative Member of Parliament who by the time of the Profumo Affair would be Leader of the House of Commons. Other members were artists Vasco Lazzolo and Felix Topolski, Baron’s barrister brother Jack, Tatler illustrator Pip Youngman Carter, Daily Express editor Arthur Christiansen – he drank champagne out of one of his shoes at one Thursday gathering – New York Post correspondent Sam Boal, and actors Peter Ustinov, James Robertson Justice and Michael Trubshawe, broadcaster Gilbert Harding, and Larry Adler, the harmonica player. Knightsbridge solicitor Michael Eddowes, who was also a member, would play an interesting role during the Profumo scandal.

				Stephen Ward, though not a full-time member of the Thursday Club, was a frequent guest and associate of most of those who were. Felix Topolski remembered airily that Ward was ‘always around. I had a drawing of Ward having intercourse with a woman.’

				The club was a strictly male affair, its ‘lunches’ – more accurately described as booze-ups that often lasted into the evening – were occasions for holding forth with stories that tended to be long, funny and, more often than not, bawdy. Baron was a celebrated raconteur, but a club rule dictated that he never be allowed to finish a story. Members honoured the man who had made the biggest fool of himself in recent weeks with the title ‘Cunt of the Month’.

				Ward’s friend Anthony Beauchamp was initially keeper of the club records, a set of visitors’ books filled with the bon mots, yarns and caricatures that kept the membership in belly laughs. According to Fleet Street artist member Tony Wyzard, the books were ‘very near the knuckle. Whatever the main topic of conversation, the scandals of the day and so on, people would write relevant verse and I would provide the illustrations. Not for publication, as you can imagine!’

				Stories about Prince Philip did the rounds. ‘We all heard about them, of course,’ said club member Larry Adler, ‘but we never discussed them. We didn’t want to embarrass Philip.’ According to Adler, the Thursday Club gatherings continued in the 1950s – and the Prince, accompanied sometimes by his private secretary and old Royal Navy chum Mike Parker, would on occasion attend. This, of course, was long after his marriage to the future Queen.

				The gossip columns regularly mentioned the parties held by Baron at his Piccadilly flat, but other bacchanalia went unreported. Vasco Lazzolo was to recall wild affairs, some attended by ‘girls dressed only in Masonic aprons’. Ward was a regular at the Baron parties.

				Prince Philip was on the organising committee of the Thursday Club and a regular dinner guest at Baron’s flat. In 1948, backstage at the Hippodrome Theatre, he was introduced by Baron to Pat Kirkwood, then a leading singer and actress. Kirkwood had emerged from a failed marriage to a theatrical manager and – reportedly – affairs with actor and comedian Danny Kaye and with the actor Peter Lawford, later the brother-in-law of John F. Kennedy. Kennedy’s name, as other chapters will show, is also entangled in the Profumo Affair.

				Michael Bentine described the actress to the authors as ‘a gorgeous, uninhibited Northern lass’. Baron was in love with her, but his love was unrequited. It was with Prince Philip that she danced the night away the night they met – and with whom she breakfasted at dawn. This made the newspapers and – married as Philip was to his daughter – King George VI is said to have been ‘incandescent with fury’. The rumours about Pat Kirkwood persisted until her death in 2007.

				After the Queen’s Coronation in 1953, there would be whispers about the wild goings-on of Philip’s Thursday Club pals. Stephen Ward had met Philip in the 1940s, and the Prince attended one, possibly two, of the parties thrown by Ward at the flat in Cavendish Square. In his memoir, Ward drily mentions Philip’s appearance at one of the parties ‘with a very attractive girl called Mitzi Taylor’ – a Canadian model whom Baron had photographed. Dr Stungo recalled having met Prince Philip at Ward’s place on a couple of occasions. The lawyer Michael Eddowes also remembered Philip having been present – the Prince had danced with Eddowes’ wife.

				Ward liked to say he knew Prince Philip, but sneered a little while expounding to Warwick Charlton about high society: ‘I’ve always found [Philip’s jokes] schoolboyish,’ he said, ‘I don’t see much fun in turning hoses on photographers and that sort of thing. You see, the superior person should never do that. It is part of the rules that only small fry may take liberties, and balancing the degree of liberty and daring is the whole art of the business. Usually the big people know this and play up to the people who do it cleverly. Philip wants to hold the stage himself. He acts like a little person when in fact he should try to be a big person . . .’

			

		

	
		
			
				

				CHAPTER 3

				The Rakes and the Royals

				Philip’s cousin David, Marquess of Milford Haven, knew Ward very well. The Marquess cut a lurid path through society in the 1940s and 1950s, and his closeness to Prince Philip caused anxiety at Buckingham Palace. It was the Marquess who once, at an open-air luncheon at Les Ambassadeurs on Park Lane, gave Ward the sort of opportunity he coveted to ‘make a breakthrough’ in society.

				‘I knew,’ Ward was to say, ‘that one could never afford not to be noticed at these events . . . How to be bright and yet not put one’s foot in it? That was the problem. David was talking about shaving. I remember he thought shaving a bit of a bore, and to demonstrate the point he fingered a small cut on his chin. He said he had cut it that very morning. Suddenly I said, without thinking, “Well, what are you worrying about – wasn’t it blue?” Everyone though it was very funny, and even David smiled. So that was it, I told myself. The moment. The moment when everyone laughs at something you said . . . You will certainly be remembered as the man who dared to say something daring to someone like Milford Haven.’

				From the Royal Family’s point of view, the Marquess was thoughtless enough in 1950 to become married for a time to an American divorcee named, as the Duchess of Windsor had been, Mrs Simpson. When the marriage ended, he began a liaison with the Hungarian actress Eva Bartok, who later wrote that she did not wish ‘to belong to those who misuse sex’. She hoped, now, to marry a man who ‘is not guilty of the frightful sin of having lost his birthright, his title – the only title I respect – a human being. Someone who is not an empty shell in a human shape . . .’

				In the mid-fifties, ordinary cocktail parties aside, Milford Haven hosted sex parties for carefully chosen male guests at his flat at 35–37 Grosvenor Square in Mayfair. The evening would begin with card playing and then, when the drink had flowed, young women would be brought in. From that point on, the betting would be for the women, in games with names like ‘Chase the Bitch’ and ‘Find the Lady’. For the winners, the prize was sex in one of the luxurious bedrooms. Brian McConnell, a reporter for the People newspaper who investigated the stories, learned that some of the women involved were brought to the flat by Stephen Ward.

				Ward’s confidant Warwick Charlton gave the authors the names of prominent people who, he said, attended other early parties. He claimed that Prince Philip, lawyer William Rees-Davies – who served as a Conservative MP for twenty years – artist Vasco Lazzolo, photographer Baron and – much later – singer Bing Crosby were all in Milford Haven’s social set.

				The Marquess and Stephen Ward both had a keen interest in pornography, and the Marquess had inherited one of the largest private collections of pornography in the world. He owned a multitude of books as well as seven albums of erotica, some embossed with the Milford Haven family crest. Shortly before the Profumo scandal broke, and on hearing that his name would crop up, the Marquess would order that the family porn be destroyed. His chauffeur, to whom the task was assigned, instead sold some of the material to the antiquarian bookseller Louis Bondy. A good deal of it – including some donated by one of Stephen Ward’s friends – made its way to the Private Case of the British Museum. Two of the Marquess’ albums were acquired by the University of Texas.

				Album 7, which reached the British Museum, was described by former curator Dr Eric Dingwall as ‘Leaflets, booklets . . . advertising dirty books, tickler condoms, dildoes, photographs and so on.’

				Police raided the homes of several of Ward’s friends at the height of the Profumo Affair. One target was wealthy American expatriate Beecher Moore, who later said he was told his wife might be charged with running a call-girl racket. There was no foundation to such a charge, but Moore himself was known to be a collector of erotica – he owned thousands of paperback books – and commissioned a great deal of pornographic art. One artist, Tom Poulton, supplied hundreds of sketches on sexual themes – lesbian sex between naval personnel, adulterous couples caught in the act, and orgies. The detail in the sketches suggests that many of them were drawn from life, and it may be significant that Poulton knew Ward.

				Beecher Moore, fearing arrest, donated his erotica, too, to the British Museum. Some went to the Kinsey Institute in the United States.

				The police also descended on the premises of Vasco Lazzolo, whose collection included pornographic photographs of himself and photographer friends, some featuring sadomasochism, some of young men. The detectives did not find them, he explained later, because he was keeping them elsewhere. ‘It wouldn’t look good,’ he remembered the police telling him, ‘if the man who was painting Prince Philip had anything to do with a scandal.’

				Lazzolo, who had previously painted the Queen, had – at the time the Profumo scandal broke – been commissioned to paint Prince Philip. This despite an earlier occasion when he and the Marquess of Milford Haven had visited the French Riviera. When Lazzolo suggested he and the Marquess come aboard the Royal Yacht, which was anchored offshore, Prince Philip is said to have snorted, ‘Not him! I’ve got enough problems already.’

				In 1986, during preparation of the first edition of this book, a complex sequence of telephone conversations led to a meeting at Liverpool Street Station with a ‘Mr Melton’. Melton, who satisfied us that the material he had was the genuine article, showed us many photographs from Ward’s own pornography collection. Female associates of Ward were clearly identifiable in some of the pictures – a few of the photographs, somewhat altered for publication, feature in the illustration section of this book.

				Baron, the man who had given Ward his entrée to high society, died in 1956. His death and the suicide soon afterwards of playboy photographer Anthony Beauchamp shook the osteopath. Ward had himself long been exploring the notion of holding sex parties – and seeking out women who would join in – in effect, laying the foundations for the disasters of 1963. His own introduction to orgies, he said, had been:

				. . . a rather amateurish affair in Hampstead. There was abandon all right, and the sight of naked bodies all over the room . . . It was at this gathering that I met for the first time one of the more determined organisers of these parties in London. I was standing rather bemused when he came up to me and said, ‘If you are surprised at this, come round to my flat one day and be really amazed.’ This was temptation and I went.

				The only excuse I can make is that I really was curious in a sort of detached way. I would be a humbug if I did not confess that I looked forward to it too. There was the start of one of the strangest experiences of my life . . . Looking back, one sees how easy it is to be drawn into a situation out of simply weakness, to be horrified to start with and later to accept it all as normal behaviour or nearly so.
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